21-CV-0795





The Corcoran Gallery of Art and the Trustees of the Corcoran Gallery of Art,

Appellants,

v.

Susanne Jill Petty, Trustee of the Alice C. Tyler Art Trust,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Charles A. Patrizia (Bar No. 228999)* Stephen B. Kinnaird (Bar No. 454271) PAUL HASTINGS LLP 2050 M Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20036

> Telephone: 1(202) 551-1700 Facsimile: 1(202) 551-1705

David S. Julyan (Bar No. 495153) Julyan & Julyan 1200 29th Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20007 Telephone: (202) 365-7327

*Counsel for Oral Argument

Counsel for Appellants

LIST OF PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over an appeal arising from a final order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia under District of Columbia Code § 11-721(a)(1). The Superior Court entered a final order denying the Corcoran's motion for relief from enforcement of foreign judgment on September 13, 2021. *See* Joint Appendix ("JA") 46–58. The Corcoran timely filed its notice of appeal from the order on October 5, 2021. *See* JA2; D.C. App. R. 3–4.

INTRODUCTION

In 1994, through a donation agreement between the Trustees of the Corcoran Gallery of Art and the then-trustees of the Alice C. Tyler Art Trust, the Corcoran acquired ownership of about 100 plus glass works by the artist Pascal. Under the same agreement, the Corcoran also received a \$1 million cash gift, funded by a separate trust. The Agreement provided that the Corcoran Gallery would accept ownership of the works and would maintain and display some of the works in its gallery in Washington, D.C. The Corcoran Gallery did so for twenty years.

Unfortunately, by 2014, the Corcoran was no longer fiscally sustainable. The Corcoran sought *cy pres* relief from the District of Columbia Superior Court that would allow it to distribute all works owned or controlled by the Corcoran to other institutions in the District. The solution was the best and only option consistent with the mission of William Wilson Corcoran to "encourage[e]

American Genius, in the production and preservation of works pertaining to the 'Fine Arts,' and kindred objects." JA256.

The Superior Court granted the requested relief. It did so in an order and nearly fifty-page memorandum opinion. See The Trustees of the Corcoran Gallery of Art v. Dist. of Columbia, No. 2014 CA 003745 B, 2014 WL 5080058, at *23 (D.C. Super. Ct. Aug. 18, 2014) ("Cy Pres Order"); JA248–51; JA 252–300. Under the court's comprehensive order and incorporated side agreements, the Corcoran was "effectively dissolve[d]," "leaving behind only an untethered Board of Trustees to advise GW and NGA on future plans." JA297-98. The Corcoran's principal assets were transferred; the National Gallery of Art received custody of the works of art and The George Washington University received the Corcoran Gallery building and the College. JA298. The Cy Pres Order provided that "the Corcoran Deed of Trust and any other applicable instrument is deemed to be revised to the extent necessary to permit the Trustees to perform and implement the Agreements according to their terms." JA249.

Current and former students, faculty, and staff, as well as donors and friends of the Corcoran, sought to intervene in the well-publicized *cy pres* proceedings.

¹ The Corcoran named the District of Columbia as Respondent to represent the public interest. Under the Court's order and an agreement with the Attorney General of the District, works could be distributed outside of the District only by agreement of the Attorney General or a separate order of the Court.

JA253–54. Their motion was granted in part, and nine current students, faculty, and staff participated in the proceedings. *Id.* They offered several "amorphous and aspirational" proposals, JA297, none of which the court found to be a better path forward. Susanne Jill Petty, allegedly a remaining trustee of the Tyler Art Trust, chose not to participate. JA246; JA66. Petty never petitioned the D.C. Court to modify the *Cy Pres* Order; she instead filed in the probate division of the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, which had no jurisdiction over the Corcoran, a D.C. institution.

Petty never properly served the Corcoran and failed to comply with local rules to enable the probate hearing to proceed. The Corcoran, having been advised by the probate court's notes that no hearing was to occur, did not participate in a July 30, 2018 hearing in which the court surprisingly rendered an order granting Petty's petition in full. See JA153–61. The probate court made no real inquiry into service and thus jurisdiction, and it demonstrated no awareness of the controlling Cy Pres Order. Perhaps most troubling, the Court then entered judgment despite the Corcoran's pending motion for reconsideration, JA153–61, later admitting that it was oblivious to the motion's existence! See JA209 ("[F]rankly I didn't even see your motion"). This procedure did not afford the Corcoran the "full and fair" adjudication that would merit full faith and credit. And the California appellate court's attempt to fix the probate court's mistakes ex

post could not remedy the underlying judgment's constitutional failures.

This Court is thus faced with a conflict. On the one hand, it is has a *fully* litigated *Cy Pres* Order, where the Corcoran did what the law should hope a charitable institution does when faced with financial distress: It sought the law's help to come up with the next best alternative. On the other hand, it has a default judgment entered in California over a party who was never properly served, over whom jurisdiction was improper, and for whom the merits were never meaningfully considered. In the face of all of this, Petty says: ignore the *Cy Pres* Order and go with the default judgment. Such result is not just fundamentally inequitable, it cannot be squared with the controlling law.

Rather, Petty's claim was settled by the *cy pres* proceedings eight years ago. There is nothing unique about Ms. Petty, the Pascal works, or the Donation Agreement that entitles this one donor among thousands to upset the *Cy Pres* Order's careful balancing and to harvest the constrained financial remains of the Corcoran. To enforce the erroneous and unconstitutional California judgment in D.C. would defeat the purpose of this *cy pres* proceeding and set a dangerous precedent for others seeking *cy pres* relief. Moreover, it would subject the Corcoran to conflicting legal obligations as the bulk of the Corcoran's assets now belong to other institutions, and the removal of any formerly Corcoran art from D.C. requires the permission of the District of Columbia Attorney General. This

Court should decline to enforce the judgment of the California court, which wrongly disregarded the D.C. Superior Court's 2014 *Cy Pres* Order—the first final judgment governing these assets—and which had no jurisdiction over the Corcoran in the first place.

ISSUES

- I. Whether the California probate court had personal jurisdiction over the Corcoran at the time of its order granting Petty's probate petition, and if not, whether the probate order should be enforced.
- II. Whether the California probate order was consistent with the D.C. Superior Court's *Cy Pres* Order, and if not, whether the probate order should be enforced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee Susanne Jill Petty, allegedly a trustee of the Alice C. Tyler Art Trust, filed a Petition for Order in the Probate Division of the Superior Court of Los Angeles County on April 5, 2018. JA59–74. On July 30, 2018, the probate court orally granted Petty's request and ordered the Corcoran to deliver to Petty over 100 artworks and \$1 million in cash. JA153–61. The Corcoran, having never been properly and timely served, understood from the probate court's notes that the hearing was not to occur and thus did not specially appear. *See* JA90 (recognizing that the unresolved notes warranted a continuance). Yet the hearing did occur, and

the probate court granted Petty's request by default. JA159. On August 13, the Corcoran filed a motion for reconsideration, JA330–41, on which the trial court never ruled, JA209 n.12, before entering judgment on August 15, JA303–28.

On December 12, 2019, Petty filed in the District of Columbia Superior Court a request to enforce the California judgment. JA4–45. While proceedings in the District of Columbia were ongoing, the California Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of the Los Angeles probate court on August 20, 2020. JA195–231. In the D.C. Superior Court, the Corcoran filed a Motion for Relief from Enforcement of Foreign Judgment on August 4, 2021. JA46–58. In a September 13, 2021 order, the Superior Court denied the Corcoran's motion for relief from enforcement. This is an appeal from that order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. BACKGROUND

The Trustees of Corcoran Gallery in the District of Columbia ("the Corcoran") was established in 1869 as an institution dedicated to Art and "American Genius, in the production and preservation of works pertaining to the 'Fine Arts,' and kindred objects." JA256. It exists under a statutory charter granted by an act of the United States Congress. 16 Stat. 139.

In 1994, the Corcoran received and took title to a collection of over 100 glass works by the artist Suzanne Regan Pascal and a separately funded \$1 million

cash gift to maintain that collection. JA75–79. It obtained the Pascal works in connection with the Agreement between the Corcoran Trustees and the then-trustees of the Tyler Art Trust, under which the Corcoran Gallery of Art agreed to exhibit the Pascal works and to keep at least one on display. JA76. The \$1 million cash gift was made by a different trust, the Alice C. Tyler Charitable Trust. JA77. In full performance of the Agreement, the Corcoran properly expended the funds to construct the Tyler Gallery and to maintain the Pascal works. JA80. When the funds were exhausted, the Corcoran continued to secure and maintain the exhibition of the Pascal works with its own funds. JA334.

The Corcoran Trustees, since the inception of the Corcoran Gallery and until late 2014, operated a major gallery of art open to the public and a major school of art, the Corcoran College of Art + Design. Unfortunately, the financial burden of operating the gallery and the school grew and in 2014 overwhelmed the financial resources available to the Corcoran Trustees. JA259–63. The financial pressures were unrelated to the Pascal works or the Agreement. The Corcoran Trustees, after a full consideration of the issues and many efforts to redress the financial concerns, JA261; JA263; JA264–66, sought the District of Columbia Superior Court's approval under the *cy pres* doctrine to enter certain agreements with the National Gallery of Art ("NGA") and The George Washington University ("GW") on June 17, 2014. Under the proposed agreements, NGA would take custody of 18,000

artworks owned or controlled by the Corcoran, and GW would acquire the Corcoran College. The Corcoran informed Petty of its intent to enter the NGA agreements, but she did not participate in the *cy pres* proceedings. JA80; JA66.

The Superior Court held a ten-day hearing with nearly a dozen fact and expert witnesses and ultimately granted the cy pres relief requested. The court issued an order approving the agreements with NGA and GW along with a lengthy memorandum opinion. See JA248-51; JA252-300. Under the Cy Pres Order, all works owned or controlled by the Corcoran would be placed initially in the custody of the National Gallery of Art, which would have a preferential right to accession works from the Corcoran's collection; remaining works would be distributed to appropriate institutions agreed upon by the Corcoran and the NGA, favoring institutions within the District of Columbia or within a 50-mile radius of the District—striving to effectuate Mr. Corcoran's original intent. JA268–69; JA 297 n.30. Distribution of outside the District would require written permission of the District's Attorney General or would be subject to further cy pres proceedings. *Id.* To facilitate these transfers, the court ordered that "any other applicable instrument is deemed to be revised to the extent necessary to permit the Trustees to perform and implement the Agreements according to their terms." JA249.²

² After the conclusion of the *cy pres* proceedings, Petty wrote to Judge Okun regarding the Pascal works. Petty's letter does not appear in the record, but Judge Okun's response does: "I cannot take any action on your request because it is

II. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

A. Proceedings in Los Angeles Superior Court

Before and after the *cy pres* proceedings, the Corcoran attempted to work with Petty to accommodate her preferences regarding possible institutions to receive, display, and maintain the Pascal works. *See, e.g.*, JA80; JA334. Despite the Corcoran's efforts, on April 5, 2018, Petty filed a petition not in the District, but in the probate division of the Los Angeles Superior Court. JA59–74. Petty demanded the Corcoran transfer to Petty the Pascal works and \$1 million. *Id*.

Under the California Probate Code, Petty was required to serve notice and her petition to the Corcoran "in the manner provided" by the California Code of Civil Procedure at least 30 days before the initial hearing on June 14, 2018. Cal. Prob. Code 851(a). The court "may not shorten" the 30-day notice requirement.

Id. § 851(d). "Until statutory requirements are satisfied, the court lacks jurisdiction over a defendant." *Ruttenberg v. Ruttenberg*, 62 Cal. Rptr. 2d 78, 82 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997). Accordingly, the 30-day window provides critical due process.

Under local rules, the L.A. Superior Court publishes "Probate Notes" for each matter when the court has outstanding questions or concerns. *See* L.A. Super.

outside the scope of the [Cy Pres Order]." JA81. It is unclear from Judge Okun's response what exactly Petty requested and why it was outside the scope of the court's order. Regardless, ex parte correspondence does not establish the meaning of the Cy Pres Order.

- Ct. L.R. 4.4 ("Local Rules"). In the Probate Notes, there may be "Matters To Clear" that "inform[] the parties of additional documents that are necessary to justify approval of the petition." Local Rule 4.4(b). The "Matters To Clear" must be resolved "no later than 3:30 p.m. of the second court day preceding the hearing date." *Id.* "If the Probate Notes are not timely cleared, the court will continue the hearing, place the matter off calendar, deny the matter without prejudice, or take other action it deems necessary." Local Rule 4.4(c).
- 1. June 14, 2018 Probate Hearing. Prior to the initial June 14, 2018 hearing on the matter, Petty had admittedly failed to serve process upon the Corcoran in accordance with the Probate Code. JA84. Petty requested and received a 45-day continuance to cure the notice issues. JA84–85. The Corcoran's participation was limited to expressing its intention "to file a written objection." JA86. The Corcoran in no way addressed the merits of the matter or otherwise recognized the jurisdiction of the court to proceed. The Court then scheduled a second hearing for Monday, July 30, 2018.
- 2. July 30, 2018 Probate Hearing. Petty again failed to serve the Corcoran with proper notice of the petition at least 30 days prior to the scheduled July 30 hearing. The Court's "Matters To Clear" in the Probate Notes reflected Petty's failed attempts at service. By Petty's own admission, JA97–98, service was not completed on any Corcoran party before July 13, 2018 at the earliest, and

the Corcoran disputes service was effective even then. Petty attempted service on Attorneys Charles Patrizia and Valerie Marek, but they promptly notified Petty that they were not authorized to receive service on the Corcoran's behalf. Under California law, a summons must be served on someone authorized to receive it on behalf of the party. Cal. Code. Civ. Proc. § 416.10. Petty also attempted to serve Ronald Abramson, who was no longer a registered agent for service. Service on David Julyan and Harry Hopper was also ineffective. Someone unauthorized accepted and signed a mail receipt intended for Julyan, and the mail receipt purporting to show service on Hopper was unsigned. JA141–42; JA337–39.

By 3:30 p.m. on Thursday, July 26, Petty had not resolved the Matters To Clear in the Court's Probate Notes because Petty could not provide proof of service. Counsel for the Corcoran even relayed to Petty the specific reasons the notice requirements had not been satisfied in time to have a hearing. JA141–42. As service had not been effectuated 30 days before the hearing date (so the hearing was not properly noticed under Probate Code Section 851(d)) and Petty had outstanding Matters To Clear, the Corcoran understood that the hearing would be continued—at a minimum. Accordingly, the Corcoran's attorneys did not ultimately appear for the hearing.

Petty had not cleared the Probate Notes on the second court day before the hearing and instead filed an untimely supplement to her petition on Friday, July 27,

2018. JA335–36. The supplement conceded that even the attempted service upon Julyan and Hopper had not been completed (if ever) until halfway through July. JA97–98. Nonetheless at the hearing, Petty conveyed to the probate court a false and mistaken sense of urgency by representing "[o]n information and belief" that the Pascal works would be soon be transferred to the Katzen Art Center. JA99. Even on Petty's mistaken understanding that the works would be moved by the end of the year, the situation was not urgent in July. But in fact, the designation of a possible recipient was only an initial step in completing agreements for the transfer and display of the works and other implementing steps.

Perhaps because of Petty's urging, the probate court held the hearing on July 30, 2018 without the Corcoran and despite the service problems, the outstanding Matters To Clear, and the Corcoran's earlier stated intention to file written objections (upon proper service). The probate court granted Petty's petition based on default: "With no appearance by the respondents . . . I'm clearing the notes in total on this matter [and] [t]he court is going to grant the petition as requested."

JA159. The Court granted the petition in its entirety, ordering the Corcoran to deliver the Pascal works and transfer \$1 million to Petty.

3. The Corcoran's Post-Order Motion. The Corcoran promptly moved for reconsideration on August 13, 2018, on the grounds that: (i) it had not been properly served and never submitted to the court's jurisdiction; (ii) Petty did

not timely clear the Probate Notes before the hearing; (iii) the *Cy Pres* Order does not allow the Pascal works to be removed from the District absent the express authorization of the District's Attorney General; and (iv) the Corcoran had relied on representations that the Tyler Art Trust was no longer in existence. JA330–41. Yet on August 15, 2018, without ruling on the Corcoran's motion, the court entered judgment on its order. JA303–28. The court's entry of judgment deprived the probate court of jurisdiction to consider the motion. *See APRI Ins. Co. S.A. v. Super. Ct. of L.A. Cty.*, 90 Cal. Rptr. 2d 171, 180 (Cal. Ct. App. 1999) ("[T]he trial court may not grant reconsideration after judgment has been entered.").

B. Proceedings in the California Court of Appeal

The Corcoran timely appealed, and the Court of Appeal affirmed. *Petty v. Corcoran Gallery of Art*, No. B293796, 2020 WL 4877542 (Cal. Ct. App. Aug. 20, 2020); JA195–231. The Court of Appeal found no error in the probate court's oral order granting the petition because "Corcoran forfeited its ability to argue that Petty's petition lacked merit because Corcoran never made that argument in the probate court." *Petty*, 2020 WL 4877542, at *6. The Court then determined (without reference to the *cy pres* proceedings) that the Corcoran had breached its agreement with the Tyler trust. *Id.* at *7.

The Court never addressed the impropriety of the July 30, 2018 hearing because Petty had failed to serve proper notice 30 days in advance in conformity

with California Probate Code § 851(a), a notice requirement that the California Probate Court could not waive, *id.* § 851(d). Although the hearing was also improper under Los Angeles Superior Court Local Rule 4.4(c) because of Petty's failure to timely serve the supplement clearing the probate notes, the Court of Appeal held that the Probate Court was entitled to waive the rule in the interest of justice because the Corcoran had not filed a motion to quash (even though the Probate Court merely disregarded the rule without advance notice to the Corcoran (rather than waived it), and even though a motion to quash was not yet due). *Petty*, 2020 WL 4877542, at *12–13.

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