ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Case No. 21-CV-0695

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS erk of the Court

Received 04/04/2022 09:44 PM Resubmitted 04/05/2022 09:04 AM

Resubmitted 04/05/2022 03:04 AM Resubmitted 04/05/2022 03:18 PM

THE CORCORAN GALLERY OF ART &

THE TRUSTEES OF THE CORCORAN GALLERY OF ART

Appellants,

v.

SUSANNE JILL PETTY, TRUSTEE OF THE ALICE C. TYLER ART TRUST,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the District Of Columbia Superior Court Case Number 2019 CA 008131 F; Judge Shana Frost Matini

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

Hannah Wigger* (Bar No. 208851)
Jim Burgess (Bar No. 1739605)
Paul Werner (Bar No. 482637)
Calla Simeone (Bar No. 1766258)
SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER &

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

defendant or party[.]" Slaybaugh v. Superior Court, 70 Cal. App. 3d 216, 222 (Cal. Ct. App. 1977).

For example, in *Obrecht*, an attorney's attendance at a hearing constituted a general appearance where the attorney made "no reference to any claim of a limited or special appearance" and did "not allude to any jurisdictional objection" during the hearing. 245 Cal. App. 4th at 8. Because the party could not affirmatively demonstrate his attorneys' objections at the hearing were "limited to matters of jurisdiction," the court concluded it "must presume" there were no such limitations, and that the party "opposed [the opposing party's] prayers for relief on the merits, and that he thus submitted to the court's jurisdiction by making a general appearance." *Id.* at 9. Similarly, in *City of Riverside v. Horspool*, the defendant made a general appearance by appearing at the initial hearing and requesting a continuance to answer the complaint. 223 Cal. App. 4th 670, 679 (Cal. Ct. App. 2014).

Here, Ms. Marek's appearance at the June 14, 2018 hearing constituted a general appearance, and therefore the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees have waived any jurisdictional objections on appeal. Ms. Marek made no statements at the

⁵ Further, an attorney of record who generally appears for a party is deemed to have authority to accept service of process in the same case in which the attorney

already represented the party. *Estate of Moss*, 204 Cal. App. 4th 521, 534 (Cal. Ct. App. 2012).

hearing confining her objections to jurisdictional issues, and thus did not "keep out for all purposes except to make that objection." *Cal. Dental Ass 'n.*, 23 Cal. 3d at 352; JA82-88.

Just as in *Obrecht*, here Ms. Marek also did not state she was specially appearing on behalf of the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees and did not limit her participation at the hearing to a jurisdictional. *Id.* She did not even reference jurisdiction. Rather, Ms. Marek stated in general terms that she was "here on behalf of Respondents, Corcoran Gallery of Art and the Board of Trustees for the Corcoran Gallery of Art." JA84-85. Further, Ms. Marek stated in general terms that the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees would be filing written objections. JA86. Ms. Marek did not limit these objections to purely jurisdictional objections. Accordingly, this court "must therefore presume that [Ms. Marek] did not limit [her] objections at the [June 14,2018] hearing to matters of jurisdiction, that [the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees] opposed [Trustee Petty]'s prayers for relief on the merits, and that [the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees] thus submitted to the court's jurisdiction by making a general appearance." Obrecht, 245 Cal. App. 4th at 9. This is especially true because an "objection" in probate court is the means by which a party opposes a petition on the merits. See Cal. Prob. Code §§ 853, 1043(a). Thus, just as in *City of Riverside*, in which the party generally appeared by attending a hearing and requesting a continuance to answer the complaint, here Ms. Marek generally appeared by attending the June 14, 2018 hearing, joining in the request for continuance, and stating the intent to file objections to the Petition. 223 Cal. App. 4th at 679.

The Corcoran also generally appeared in its motion for reconsideration. Instead of confining itself to jurisdictional arguments, the Corcoran asked the court to deny the Trust's Petition on the merits because it purportedly conflicted with the D.C. Superior Court's *cy pres* order, asked the court for discovery, and requested permission to present other "good defenses." JA339-40. In other words, it sought affirmative relief the court only could have granted if it had jurisdiction. *Vanessa Q.*, 114 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 299; *Obrecht*, 245 Cal. App. 4th at 7; *Serrano*, 76 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 569. As a result, under California law, it waived any objection to personal jurisdiction. *Id*.

B. The Corcoran Failed Properly To Challenge The California Superior Court's Ruling.

Even if the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees had not submitted to jurisdiction by making a general appearance, they waived their challenge to personal jurisdiction and inadequate service by failing to file a motion to quash in the

and fairly litigated standard set forth in Durfee.

-25-

⁶ The Corcoran points to *Tom Brown & Co. v. Francis* as support for its argument that its motion for reconsideration could not have been a general appearance. 608 A.2d 148, 150 (D.C. 1992); Appellant Br. at 29. This case is off point. It has nothing to do with motions for reconsideration and utterly failed to apply the fully

probate court. "Failure to make a motion [to quash] . . . at the time of filing a demurrer or motion to strike constitutes a waiver of the issues of lack of personal jurisdiction, inadequacy of process, inadequacy of service of process, inconvenient forum, and delay in prosecution." Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 418.10(e)(3); see also City of Riverside, 223 Cal. App. 4th at 680 ("Failure to make a motion to quash constitutes a waiver of the issues of lack of personal jurisdiction, inadequacy of process, inadequacy of service of process, inconvenient forum, and delay in prosecution."). The time to file an answer or demurrer is 30 days from service. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 430.40(a). Even assuming that service was not effectuated until July 13, 2018, the Corcoran still had until August 12, 2018 to file a motion to quash. JA89-152. They failed to do so. Consequently, pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 418.10(e)(3), the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees have waived any challenge they may have had to personal jurisdiction or inadequate service of process. JA222.

Nor was the Corcoran's motion for reconsideration proper. As the Court of Appeal explained, the Corcoran's motion was "defective as a matter of law" because it failed to point to any "new or different facts, circumstances or law" that were not available to it as the July 30, 2018, hearing, in accordance with California Code of Civil Procedure section 1008. JA215-16. Regardless, as the California Court of Appeal stated, once a court entered judgment, it loses jurisdiction to rule

on a motion for reconsideration. *APRI Ins. Co. v. Superior Court*, 76 Cal. App. 4th 176, 180 (Cal. Ct. App. 1999) ("[W]e conclude that the trial court may not grant reconsideration after judgment has been entered"); JA213. The California Court of Appeals further noted the "Corcoran has not cited any authority to support its contention that the probate court's entry of judgment prior to ruling on Corcoran's motion [for reconsideration] requires reversal of the judgment." JA214. Instead, a trial court's "entry of judgment . . . operate[s] as an implied denial of the pending reconsideration motion." *Kasper v. Cedars-Sinai Medical Center*, 62 Cal. App. 4th 780, 782 (Cal. Ct. App. 1998); JA214. Such was the case here. JA54.

C. The California Superior Court Had Personal Jurisdiction Over The Corcoran.

Contrary to the Corcoran's assertions on its (second) appeal, the California Superior Court properly exercised personal jurisdiction over the Corcoran. *See*Appellant Br. at 36-37. California courts may exercise jurisdiction on any basis not inconsistent with the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of California. Code Civ. Proc. § 410.10. The exercise of jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant comports with the California and U.S. Constitutions "if the defendant has such minimum contacts with the state that the assertion of jurisdiction does not violate traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Vons Companies, Inc. v. Seabest Foods, Inc.*, 14 Cal. 4th 434, 444 (Cal. 1996) (quoting *International Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945)).

Courts may exercise specific jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant if:

(1) the defendant purposefully availed itself of forum benefits; (2) the controversy is "related to" or "arises out of" the defendant's contacts with the forum; and

(3) the assertion of personal jurisdiction would comport with "fair play and substantial justice." *Snowney v. Harrah's Entm't, Inc.*, 35 Cal. 4th 1054, 1062

(Cal. 2005).

Regarding the first prong, a defendant purposefully avails itself of the benefits of a forum where it (1) directs its activities at forum residents; (2) derives benefits from its forum activities; (3) creates a "substantial connection" with the forum; (4) engages in significant activities within the forum; or (5) has created continuing obligations between itself and forum residents. *Id.* at 1063. While a contract with an out-of-state party does not automatically establish purposeful availment in the other party's home forum, it is indicative of purposeful availment. *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 481 (1985).

Here, the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees purposefully directed activities towards California by specifically signing an agreement with a California trust to receive artwork from California that was made by a California resident-artist.

Further, the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees purposefully derived substantial benefits—namely, free art and \$1 million—by these California connections. JA75-79. The California-centered nature of the Trust and its assets has required the

Corcoran Gallery and Trustees to interact extensively with persons in California and their associated property, and has thus created a "substantial connection" with California. *Id.* The Corcoran Gallery and Trustees have created continuing obligations between themselves and the California trust by agreeing to return the artwork and cash gift upon termination of their rights under the Agreement. *Id.* Moreover, the Agreement specifies that it is to be governed by California law, demonstrating the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees purposefully availed themselves of the benefits and protections of California law by entering into an agreement that expressly provided California law would govern a dispute. *Id.* That the forum-selection clause is crossed out within the Agreement does not negate California's jurisdiction over the matter, especially where no alternative forum is specified. Appellant Br. at 37.

Regarding the second prong, the relatedness requirement is satisfied if "there is a substantial nexus or connection between the defendant's forum activities and the plaintiff's claim." *Snowney*, Cal. 4th at 1068. Here, the Petition arises directly out of the Agreement, as it seeks the return of Trust assets that were provided to the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees pursuant to the Agreement. JA59-73. Therefore, there is a substantial nexus between the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees' California activities, described above, and the claim at issue here.

As to the third prong, "[o]nce a plaintiff has shown the requisite minimum contacts to support jurisdiction, the burden shifts to defendant to show jurisdiction is not reasonable." Integral Development Corp. v. Weissenbach, 99 Cal. App. 4th 576, 591 (Cal. Ct. App. 2002). "In making this determination, the court must consider the burden on the defendant, the interests of the forum State, and the plaintiff's interest in obtaining relief." Snowney, 35 Cal. 4th at 1070. "It must also weigh in its determination the interstate judicial system's interest in obtaining the most efficient resolution of controversies; and the shared interest of the several States in furthering fundamental substantive social policies." *Id.* A defendant "must present a compelling case that the presence of some other considerations would render jurisdiction unreasonable. Most such considerations usually may be accommodated through means short of finding jurisdiction unconstitutional." Integral Development, 99 Cal. App. 4th at 591.

Here, the Corcoran has not cited any evidence in the record to show that jurisdiction is unreasonable. There is no heavy burden on them, as this action does not require substantial witness travel time, California-specific discovery, or other considerations placing any burden on them to travel to California. In contrast, California's interests in this action are strong. This dispute involves a California trust, an agreement governed by California law, and the return to California of art created by a California resident. JA75-79. Further, Trustee Petty has a substantial

interest in obtaining relief, as demonstrated by the great lengths she has undergone thus far to obtain the subject art so it may be displayed at a California venue.

The Corcoran does not dispute these facts, and cites no evidence to the contrary. Appellant Br. 36-37. Instead, it asserts it is not subject to personal jurisdiction in California because it is not a California resident and did not agree to a venue clause in its agreement with the Trust. *Id.* But the test for personal jurisdiction "is not susceptible of mechanical application; rather, the facts of each case must be weighed to determine whether the requisite 'affiliating circumstances' are present." *Snowney*, 35 Cal. 4th at 1061. Where the Corcoran established substantial connections with California, as explained above, it cannot escape jurisdiction by cherry picking facts that are irrelevant in isolation. *Id.* When the parties' relationship is considered as a whole, it is clear California had jurisdiction over the Corcoran.

D. The Corcoran Had A Full And Fair Opportunity To Litigate This Case.

Nor is there any dispute the Corcoran had fair notice and the opportunity to defend the Petition. California Probate Code section 1260 states, "[i]f notice of a hearing is required, proof of giving notice of the hearing shall be made to the satisfaction of the court at or before the hearing." Cal. Prob. Code § 1260(a). "If it appears to the satisfaction of the court that notice has been regularly given or that the party entitled to notice has waived it, the court shall so find in its order." *Id.* §

1260(b). "The finding described in subdivision (b), when the order becomes final, is conclusive on all persons." *Id.* § 1260(c).

Here, Mr. Patrizia, counsel for the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees, was served via certified U.S. mail on June 25, 2018. JA92-93. Ms. Marek, also counsel for the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees, was served via certified U.S. mail on June 27, 2018. *Id.* This service meets the 30-day notice requirement of California Probate Code section 851(d), and establishes the Corcoran had actual notice of the hearing. *Supra* pages 6-7; *see In re Steven H.*, 86 Cal. App. 4th 1023, 1032 (Cal. Ct. App. 2001) (holding the failure to serve a statutorily-required notice of a hearing on counsel was harmless error where it was "beyond dispute" that counsel "was aware of the hearing").

And indeed, the California Superior Court determined that the Trustee's notice efforts complied with Probate Code section 851(d). At the July 30, 2018 hearing on the Petition, the probate court stated, "I'm finding that notice is proper[.]" JA159. Therefore, notice was given "to the satisfaction of the court" and was "conclusive on all persons." Prob. Code § 1260.

⁷ The First Supplement details the many attempts to serve the Corcoran Gallery and Trustees well before the date of the hearing and their associated evasion of service. JA89-152.

⁸ The Corcoran asserts now, on appeal, that it "understood" a hearing would not actually take place on July 30, 2018. Appellant Br. at 5. This contention is unsupported by the record. Indeed, the Corcoran's citation for its new

III. The California Superior Court's Decision Does Not Conflict With The Cy Pres Order.

It is similarly clear the California Superior Court's decision does not conflict with the District of Columbia's cy pres order because the Collection was not subject to the cy pres order. Indeed, Judge Okun, the D.C. judge who presided over the cy pres proceeding, confirmed the disposition of the Collection pursuant to the terms of the Agreement was "outside the scope" of the cy pres order—a detail curiously absent from the Corcoran's brief. JA81. The California Court of Appeal considered the Corcoran's argument and similarly concluded the District of Columbia did not render any adjudications regarding the Collection. JA201-203 & JA226-230; Appellant Br. at 43-44. On the Corcoran's third bite at the apple, the D.C. Superior Court agreed, and found the California Court of Appeal had already addressed the issue with "comprehensive detail and analysis" in any event. JA56-57. In short, this issue has been more than "fully and fairly litigated," and the decisions of the California courts are entitled to full faith and credit. Durfee, 375 U.S. at 111.

[&]quot;understanding" is the Tyler Trust's supplement to address probate notes, which does not evidence the Corcoran's understanding or intent. Appellant Br. at 5; JA90.

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